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/ Building momentum
WestJet’s growth story continued in 2012, as we set records 
throughout the year. Our earnings and load factors reached new 
highs, while we continued to earn awards for being a top employer. 
We are expanding our network and airline partnerships, and will 
see the launch of WestJet Encore in 2013.

Last year, we simplified the paper version of our annual report to 
use less paper and reduce our costs, and this year, we’re continuing 
that. We encourage you to view the online version of our 2012 Annual 
Report at westjet.com/buildingmomentum to learn more.

/ Table of contents

Caution regarding forward-looking information
Certain information set forth in this annual report, including without limitation information regarding our growth in airline partnerships for 2013, our service initiatives for 2013 and beyond,  
the launch of WestJet Encore, our initiative to reduce costs by $100 million over the next three years and the ability to purchase and cancel up to five per cent of our outstanding shares over the 
next year, contain certain forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond WestJet’s control. 
These forward-looking statements are based on our existing strategies, our implementation schedule for WestJet Encore, our long-term strategic plan and our current budget, but may vary due  
to factors including, but not limited to changes in fuel prices, changes in guest demand, general economic conditions, competitive environment, ability to effectively implement and maintain 
critical systems, ability to successfully negotiate and effectively implement new partnering relationships, regulatory approvals and requirements, and other factors described in WestJet’s public 
reports and filings, which are available on WestJet’s profile at www.sedar.com. Readers are cautioned that undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements as actual results 
may vary materially from the forward-looking statements. WestJet does not undertake to update, correct or revise any forward-looking statements as a result of any new information, future 
events or otherwise, except as may be required by applicable law.
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/ 2012 Annual Report

WestJet is proud of a year of records
A record number of guests enjoyed WestJet’s remarkable 
experience, our aircraft were fuller than ever before, and we saw  
net earnings of $242 million—thanks to the commitment of more 
than 9,000 WestJetters.

Over 85 per cent of WestJetters participate in our employee share 
purchase plan, making them owners, as well, and aligned with  
the continued success of the airline. We are enthusiastic about our  
new initiatives in 2013—including the launch of WestJet Encore—
and know that success will continue to come from our culture of 
caring for our guests and maintaining our low-cost roots.

WestJet’s ongoing 
success is a result  
of our focus 
on creating a 
remarkable guest 
experience in 
everything we do.
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/ President’s message

Since joining WestJet in 2009, I have enjoyed working with a tremendously hard-working 
team and seeing record results from work done by people who are passionate about their 
company, their co-workers, and our guests. This teamwork is the foundation of our success 
and of the positive momentum we’ve built, all of which will carry us forward as we embark 
on exciting new initiatives in 2013 and beyond.

This year’s annual report has building momentum as its theme, and I encourage you to view 
the online version of the report at westjet.com/buildingmomentum. In this report, you’ll 
discover some of the key elements of what makes us unique and appreciated by our guests, 
as well as seeing why we’re confident and excited about our future.

We have built on our long trend of profitable growth, and 2012 marks our eighth consecutive 
year of profitability and the 16th time we have reported an annual profit in our 17-year 
history. In fact, our diluted earnings per share for 2012 reached a record $1.78, a 67.9 per 
cent increase over 2011. We reported $3.4 billion in revenue, 11.6 per cent higher than in 2011, 
saw a 7.1 per cent increase in RASM for the year, and reached a return on invested capital  
of 13.7 per cent for the 12 months ending December 31, 2012, the second consecutive quarter 
in which we surpassed our target of 12 per cent. 

In 2012, we reached a milestone when we took delivery of our 100th Boeing Next-Generation 
737 aircraft. We flew more than 17.4 million guests in 2012, an 8.6 per cent increase over 2011, 
and achieved a record load factor of 82.8 per cent for the year as we increased our capacity 
by 4.1 per cent. We were also pleased to report an earnings before tax margin of 9.9 per cent 
in 2012, an increase of 3.1 percentage points over 2011, ranking us among the top airlines in 
North America.

We continued our network expansion, and now serve 85 destinations in 18 countries in  
North America, Central America, and the Caribbean. Our growth in airline partnerships is  
helping us build a virtual global network. During 2012, we increased the total number of 
partnerships to 30, including eight code-share agreements, as Delta Air Lines, Korean Air,  

Gregg Saretsky 
became WestJet’s 
President and CEO  
in April 2010  
and has spent more 
than 27 years in the 
airline industry.
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China Eastern Airlines, and British Airways were 
added to our roster of code-share partners. We expect 
this momentum to continue in 2013 as we evolve two  
to four interline agreements into new code-shares  
and pursue a handful of new interline relationships.

Our loyalty program, WestJet Rewards, continued to 
evolve in 2012, with new opportunities for members to 
earn WestJet dollars by flying on American Airlines, 
and by making hotel and car rental bookings directly on 
our website. We increased the value offered to holders 
of the WestJet RBC World Elite MasterCard, including 
a welcome bonus of 250 WestJet dollars and an annual 
$99 round-trip companion flight, making this credit 
card even more competitive.

We also announced our new fare bundles in 2012 
as part of our strategy to increase the options we 
provide our guests and to allow them to choose the 
comfort, convenience and flexibility that best matches 
their budget. Guests can now choose the bundle that 
provides them with the best value and amenities.

These initiatives will increase the added value we offer 
business travellers, which is part of our integrated 
strategy of capturing a greater share of the corporate 
travel market, while continuing to provide our leisure 
travellers with increased travel options.

A key foundational component of the successful launch 
of these initiatives is the significant investment of  
$40 million we’ve made in our IT systems over the last 
two years. I’m excited about these enhancements, 
which include a new digital storefront with increased 
customizability for guests as they book, improvements 
to our self-service kiosks, and mobile flight notifications.

WestJetters’ tremendous efforts in preparing for 
the introduction of WestJet Encore, our new regional 
airline, have set the stage for a successful launch in 
June 2013. Our survey of WestJetters in early 2012 
showed overwhelming support of the new airline.  
Since then, we’ve selected the Bombardier NextGen 
Q400 aircraft for the new fleet, and the focused 
dedication of the entire WestJet team makes us 
confident that WestJet Encore will be a success.  
We look forward to bringing WestJet’s friendly, caring 
service and low fares to smaller communities.  
On February 11, 2013, we announced WestJet Encore’s 
first two communities—Nanaimo and Fort St. John, BC. 

I’m confident that we are prepared to implement these 
exciting initiatives with the support and commitment of 
more than 9,000 proud WestJetters; 2012 was a great 
year for WestJet, and I expect to see more continued 
success in the years ahead. Our core values continue 
to remain the same—we are leveraging our strengths 
in continuing to bring low fares, with friendly and 

caring service to all of the communities we serve, 
while working hard to keep costs low. As part of that 
focus on low costs, we recently concluded a series of 
meetings with WestJetters across Canada, to present 
our business transformation initiative to reduce costs 
by $100 million over the next three years.

I’m proud of the recognition WestJetters have earned 
as a result of demonstrating the strength of our culture 
every day. In 2012, WestJet was once again ranked as 
Canada’s preferred airline by TNS Canada and as a 
top 10 international airline in Aviation Week. WestJet 
Vacations announced a Leger Marketing survey 
showing we have the highest guest satisfaction and 
loyalty among Canadian tour operators and in late 
2012, WestJet was named one of Canada’s Top 100 
Employers in Mediacorp’s annual study of Canada’s 
best workplaces. We also achieved an all-time high 
score in our internal “We Hear You” survey in 2012. 
Certainly these are recognitions that would not have 
been possible without the commitment to safety and 
care delivered by our over 9,000 WestJetters.

WestJetters also continued to give back in many ways, 
including our first two Hero Holidays in April and 
October 2012 where two groups of 50 WestJetters 
each built five homes for families living in extreme 
poverty in Puerto Plata, Dominican Republic. We also 
continued our focus on reducing our environmental 
footprint, and released our second corporate 
sustainability report in December.

We were pleased to continue returning value to 
shareholders in 2012. In February and August of 2012, 
we announced increases to our quarterly dividend from 
$0.05 to $0.06 and then to $0.08 per share. In February 
2013, we announced our third increase, to $0.10 per 
share. In 2012, we also completed our second normal 
course issuer bid. Since we began paying a quarterly 
dividend in 2010, and including our two completed 
normal course issuer bids, we have returned more than 
$290 million to our shareholders as of the end of 2012. 
On February 14, 2013, the Toronto Stock Exchange 
approved our notice for a further normal course issuer 
bid that will allow us to purchase and cancel up to five 
per cent of our outstanding shares over the next year.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, the Executive 
team, and more than 9,000 WestJetters, thank you for 
your continued support of our airline.

Gregg Saretsky
President and Chief Executive Officer 
March 19, 2013

/ President’s message
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/ Growing our business

17,139 17,588

19,535
21,186

22,064

Available seat miles
(millions)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

14,284 14,039
15,174

16,041
17,423

2,550

2,281

2,607

3,072

3,427

Revenue*
(millions of dollars)

Segment guests
(thousands)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

WestJet’s positive 
revenue and 
earnings momentum 
continued in 2012.

* The results for 2010–2012 are presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 2009 results and prior are 
reported under Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).
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/ Financial highlights

* The results for 2010–2012 are presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 2009 results and prior are 
reported under Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).

($ in thousands, 
except per share data) 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Consolidated financial 
 information*

Revenue

Earnings before  
 income taxes

Net earnings

Cash and cash equivalents

Earnings per share
 Basic
 Diluted

Operational highlights*

Available seat miles (ASM)

Revenue passenger  
 miles (RPM)

Load factor

Yield (cents)

Revenue per ASM (cents)

Cost per ASM (cents)

Cost per ASM, excluding  
 fuel and employee 
 profit share (cents)

 

$ 3,427,409

 
$ 340,229

$ 242,392

$ 1,408,199

 
$ 1.79 
$ 1.78

22,063,583,754

 
18,262,554,881

82.8%

18.77

15.53

13.83

 
 

9.12

 

$ 3,071,540

 
$ 208,006

$ 148,702

$ 1,243,605

 
$ 1.06 
$ 1.06

21,186,304,409

 
16,890,941,121

79.7%

18.18

14.50

13.29

 
 

8.85

 

$ 2,607,294

 
$ 133,465

$ 90,197

$ 1,159,316

 
$ 0.62 
$ 0.62

19,535,291,313

 
15,613,121,610

79.9%

16.70

13.35

12.37

 
 

8.80

 

$ 2,281,120

 
$ 136,796

$ 98,178

$ 994,989

 
$ 0.74 
$ 0.74

17,587,640,902

 
13,834,761,211

78.7%

16.49

12.97

11.77

 
 

8.45

 

$ 2,549,506

 
$ 254,749

$ 178,506

$ 820,214

 
$ 1.39 
$ 1.37

17,138,883,465

 
13,730,960,234

80.1%

18.57

14.88

13.17

 
 

8.29

2012 marked our 
eighth consecutive 
year of profitability, 
ranking us among 
the top North 
American airlines.
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/ Building momentum

WestJet’s growth story carried on in 2012 as we set records 
throughout the year. Our earnings and load factors reached new 
highs and we again earned awards as a top employer.

In 2012, we continued to grow our network and now reach 85 
destinations in 18 countries with a fleet of over 100 Boeing 737s.  
This growth will continue as we begin taking delivery of our Q400 
fleet for the launch of WestJet Encore.

Our list of airline partners continues growing—we added 13 new 
interline agreements in 2012, providing even more travel options 
for our guests, and enhanced WestJet Rewards while improving 
our technology offerings—all intended to increase our appeal to 
business and leisure travellers.

While setting the stage for continued growth, we have steadily 
returned value to our shareholders with three dividend increases 
—two in 2012 and one in early 2013—and we continued our share 
buyback program throughout 2012.

Our 2012 return on invested capital of 13.7 per cent shows our 
business model is robust, and the strong engagement and passion 
of more than 9,000 WestJetters is what helps us deliver a great 
experience to our guests.

We’ve built the momentum to execute several initiatives that will 
enable us to succeed in 2013 and beyond.

WestJet flew over 
17 million guests 
across our network 
in 2012. We achieved 
record load factors 
for each month  
in the second half,  
and also for the  
full year of 2012.
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/ Airline partnerships

Airline partnerships are a low-cost and effective way for WestJet 
to grow our network. In 2012, four existing relationships (Delta 
Air Lines, Korean Air, China Eastern Airlines and British Airways) 
were evolved to code-shares and we implemented 13 new interline 
partnerships—bringing our total global partnerships to 30 as  
of year-end.

In 2012, we formed new interline relationships with several U.S. 
carriers. The extensive connectivity between the networks of WestJet 
and these carriers will continue to enhance WestJet’s revenue.

In 2013, we expect to evolve two to four interline agreements into 
new code-shares, pursue a handful of new interline relationships, 
and focus on maximizing the performance of existing relationships.

Our airline 
partnerships allow 
us to provide our 
guests with a 
network of global 
destinations, 
while introducing 
new guests from 
around the world to 
WestJet’s friendly, 
caring service.
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/ WestJet Encore

Momentum continues into 2013 with the launch of WestJet Encore. 
Sales of WestJet Encore flights began in early February 2013,  
with flights to the first two communities to be serviced— 
Nanaimo and Fort St. John, BC—scheduled for June 24, 2013.  
We will take delivery of seven Bombardier Q400 NextGen aircraft  
in 2013, with the first two arriving in June.

Early in 2012, WestJetters voted overwhelmingly in favour of the 
new airline. WestJet Encore’s mission: to provide lower fares in 
new Canadian communities, and bring these guests into WestJet’s 
expansive network; increase frequency on existing routes; and  
connect existing WestJet destinations currently not serviced by  
our Boeing 737 fleet.

With our experience building a successful low-cost airline and 
providing guests with remarkable experiences, we expect WestJet 
Encore to duplicate the success WestJet had when it started  
17 years ago.

Ferio Pugliese, 
Executive Vice-
President, WestJet 
and President, 
WestJet Encore 
stands next to  
a Bombardier  
Q400 NextGen  
being built at 
Bombardier’s plant.
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/ Business traveller

In 2012, we continued our focus on the business-traveller segment, 
with corporate travellers taking advantage of network and schedule 
enhancements, a growing partnership network and amenities that 
make business travel easier.

Service was introduced between New York–LaGuardia and Toronto, 
expanding choice for business travellers already enjoying the 
frequency and added service features we offer in the eastern triangle. 
Daily non-stop flights between Chicago–O’Hare and Western Canada 
were added to the schedule, along with non-stop service from Chicago 
to Toronto, Ottawa, and Montreal through our partner, American 
Airlines. Our growing partnership network creates more options  
for business travellers going to international destinations.

In 2013, business travellers looking for more conveniences will  
be able to take advantage of our fare bundle options, with features  
such as extra legroom, priority screening and boarding, waived  
fees and ticket refunds to credit cards.

Business travellers 
can take advantage 
of WestJet’s 
enhanced schedule 
and amenities 
designed to get  
them where they  
are going, refreshed 
and ready to go.
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/ WestJet Rewards

*Terms and conditions apply. See www.westjet.com/rewards for details.

We continued improving the value offered to members of WestJet 
Rewards; in 2012 we added opportunities for members to earn 
and redeem WestJet dollars with our increasing partner network. 
WestJet Rewards members can now earn WestJet dollars when 
they fly on American Airlines, as well as when they book hotel stays 
and car rentals online at westjet.com.

In 2012, we also introduced the new WestJet RBC World Elite 
MasterCard, offering additional benefits including a welcome  
bonus of 250 WestJet dollars and an annual round-trip companion 
flight for $99.*

In 2013, we will continue building the WestJet Rewards program  
by adding value with more opportunities for members to earn  
and redeem WestJet dollars with our increasing partner network.

We’re helping 
WestJet Rewards 
members earn  
trips even faster: 
WestJet dollars  
can be redeemed 
online or when 
calling our Sales 
Super Centre to 
make a reservation.
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/ WestJet Vacations

WestJet Vacations continues to be a fast-growing portion of 
WestJet’s business. Along with our route expansion, WestJet 
Vacations added Aruba; Antigua; Costa Rica; Curacao; Manzanillo, 
Mexico; and Kingston, Jamaica, bringing our total Vacations 
destinations to 52.

Revenue growth was strong year-over-year, especially for travel  
out of Ontario and Quebec, and profitability continues improving  
as we focus on lowering our costs.

The expansion of our caring WestJet people and culture into the 
Vacations market has been recognized by our guests; a survey 
conducted by Leger Marketing in 2012 found that WestJet Vacations 
is now Canada’s preferred vacation company. We scored higher 
than our competitors on guest service, guest satisfaction, overall 
satisfaction, likelihood to recommend, and most trusted company.

WestJet Vacations’ 
experts work hard 
to make sure guests 
have the best choice 
of vacation packages 
to suit their needs—
all backed by 
WestJet’s famous 
guest service.
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/ Technology advances

We’ve spent more than $40 million over the last two years on  
new technology, including critical systems infrastructure in  
Calgary and Toronto to ensure high system availability. 

Website enhancements in early 2013 will enrich our guests’ online 
experience, making it easier than ever to find and book the trip  
they want, or change/cancel a reservation. We’re also making it 
easier for guests to take advantage of our new offerings, including 
fare bundles.

Hotels and car rentals can be booked directly through our  
website and added mobile notifications increase our ability  
to connect with guests.

In June 2012, we 
improved our self-
service kiosks in  
82 airports across  
16 countries,  
adding services  
guest can perform, 
such as self-service 
bag tagging.
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/ Community investment

We believe we are as strong as the communities we serve, which is 
why WestJet is proud to give back through our WestJetters Caring 
for Our Community and WestJet Cares for Kids programs.

In 2012, we launched our first international community investment 
initiative, Hero Holiday. In 2012, 100 WestJetters went to Puerto 
Plata, Dominican Republic, to build 10 homes for families living in 
extreme poverty.

In June, we took 40 Bigs and Littles from Big Brothers Big Sisters 
on our inaugural flight from Toronto to New York-LaGuardia for  
an action-packed day of sightseeing in the Big Apple.

In September, WestJetters participated in the Ronald McDonald 
House Home for Dinner program by hosting a backyard barbecue  
at 14 Ronald McDonald houses across Canada.

Giving back to the 
communities who 
support us is our 
way of extending our 
culture of caring.
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/ WestJetters and our culture

WestJet’s remarkable employee engagement is driven by our culture 
of caring and fueled by ownership. Over 85 per cent of WestJetters 
participate in our employee share purchase program, which means  
we treat our guests and our business as though we are owners,  
not just employees.

This engagement leads to great input in our initiatives—in early 2012,  
an overwhelming 91 per cent of WestJetters voted in favour of the 
decision to launch WestJet Encore.

WestJet’s social media team was awarded best use of social media  
to drive revenue by The SimpliFlying Awards for Excellence in Social 
Media in 2012.

Recognized in 2012 by Mediacorp’s Top 100 Employers in Canada,  
as well as Randstad Canada’s most attractive employer, WestJet’s 
award-winning culture of caring means we put our best foot forward 
every day—for our guests, business partners and fellow WestJetters. 
Culture is a core piece of the momentum we’re carrying forward.

Our culture isn’t 
just an idea—
it’s a promise. 
WestJetters will 
always strive to 
create a remarkable 
experience for  
our guests and  
for each other.
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/ Board of directors

Clive Beddoe
Chair of the Board

Hugh Bolton
Director

Ron Brenneman
Director

Antonio Faiola
Director and PACT Chair

Brett Godfrey
Director

Allan Jackson
Director

S. Barry Jackson
Director

Wilmot Matthews
Director

L. Jacques Ménard
Director

Larry Pollock
Director

Janice Rennie
Director

Gregg Saretsky
President and CEO

Arthur Scace
Director

/ Executive team

Gregg Saretsky
President and  
Chief Executive Officer

Vito Culmone
Executive Vice-President, 
Finance and Chief  
Financial Officer

Bob Cummings
Executive Vice-President,  
Sales, Marketing and  
Guest Experience

Cam Kenyon
Executive Vice-President, 
Operations

Ferio Pugliese,
Executive Vice-President, 
WestJet and President, 
WestJet Encore

Cheryl Smith
Executive Vice-President  
and Chief Information Officer

/ Corporate information

*  On November 1, 2010, CIBC Mellon sold its issuer services business to Canadian Stock Transfer 
Company Inc. which is currently operating the stock transfer and employee share purchase 
plan business in the name of CIBC Mellon Trust Company during a transition period.

/ Stock exchange listing
Shares in WestJet stock are publicly traded  
on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbols  
WJA and WJA.A.

/ Investor relations contact information
Phone: 1-877-493-7853
Email: investor_relations@westjet.com

/ WestJet headquarters
22 Aerial Place NE
Calgary, AB  T2E 3J1
Phone: 403-444-2600
Toll-free: 888-293-7853

/ Annual general meeting (AGM)
WestJet Airlines Ltd.’s AGM will be held at 2 p.m. (MDT)
on Tuesday, May 7, 2013,
at WestJet’s campus:
22 Aerial Place NE, Calgary, AB

/ Auditors
KPMG LLP, Calgary, AB

/ Transfer agent and registrar
CIBC Mellon Trust Company*
Toll-free in North America: 1-800-387-0825
www.canstockta.com
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Other  
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Transborder and 
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Management’s Dis
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ernational mar

Three months 

% of total  
51.5% 2,
48.5% 2,

100.0% 5,

affic, measure
capacity. Our c
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fourth quarter o
the 2.8 per ce

ad factor of 81

ing the fourth 
epresents a 10

ber 31 
1

% of total 
54.8% 
45.2% 

100.0% 
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Net earnings 
Basic earnings pe
Diluted earnings 
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Total revenue 
Net earnings 
Basic earnings pe
Diluted earnings 

Our business is 
n the summer 
first quarters). 
seasonality on o

GUEST EXPE

At WestJet, we
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completion.  

Key performa

On-time perfor
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within 15 minu
represents the 
delayed or lost 

 

On-time perform
Completion rate 
Bag ratio 
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n significant w
our available fle
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completion rate
flat on a year-o
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experienced du
ime. 

OF QUARTER

except per share

er share 
per share 

except per share

er share 
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seasonal in na
months (secon
With our tran

our net earning

ERIENCE

e are focused 
delivering a po
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mance and co
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e data) 

e data) 
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American airlin
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Three
2012
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2.
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experienced a
letion rate dec
al factors, such
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s. Despite year
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h quarter of 20

S
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me performanc
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h as flight conn
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tment of Tran
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012 bag ratio o
ers, on-time pe
11, due to the
 on safely perf

sults 2012│ 15 

ar. 31  
2012

890,950 
68,321 
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LIQUIDITY A

Liquidity  

The airline indu
mperative to a
completed 2012
2011. This incr
offsetting the $
nterest paid, an

Part of our cas
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Typically, we ha
normal and stre
sales balance.  

We monitor cap
adjusted debt-t
sheet aircraft o
December 31, 
result of net e
December 31, 
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Our current rat
December 31, 2
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was secured by
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Cash and cash eq
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS  

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. When a choice between accounting methods exists, management has chosen those they deem conservative and 
appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements will, by necessity, include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. 
Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis so that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly 
in all material respects. All information in this report is the responsibility of management. 

Management has established systems of internal control, including disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over 
financial reporting, which are designed and operated to provide reasonable assurance that financial and non-financial information 
that is disclosed is timely, complete, relevant and accurate. These systems of internal control also serve to safeguard the 
Corporation’s assets. The systems of internal control are monitored by management, and further supported by an internal audit 
department whose functions include reviewing internal controls and their applications. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall stewardship and governance of the Corporation, including ensuring management 
fulfills its responsibility for financial reporting and internal control, and reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. 
The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed of independent Directors, meets regularly with management, the internal 
auditors and the external auditors to satisfy itself that each is properly discharging its responsibilities, and to review the consolidated 
financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors 
prior to the approval of such statements for issuance to the shareholders. The Audit Committee also recommends, for review by the 
Board of Directors and approval of shareholders, the reappointment of the external auditors. The internal and external auditors have 
full and free access to the Audit Committee. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, the independent external auditors, in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The auditors’ report outlines the scope of their 
examination and sets forth their opinion. 

 

      

Gregg Saretsky    Vito Culmone 

President and     Executive Vice-President, Finance and 
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer 

 

Calgary, Canada 
February 5, 2013 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of WestJet Airlines Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of WestJet Airlines Ltd., which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the consolidated statement of earnings, changes in 
equity, cash flows and comprehensive income for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of  the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial posit ion of 
WestJet Airlines Ltd. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

  

 

Chartered Accountants 

Calgary, Canada 
February 5, 2013 
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Consolidated Statement of Earnings 
For the years ended December 31 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 
 

 Note 2012 2011 

    

Revenue:    

 Guest   3,133,492  

 Other   293,917  

  3,427,409  

Expenses:    

Aircraft fuel  992,787   
Airport operations  454,114   
Flight operations and navigational charges  366,871   
Sales and distribution  313,082 296,954  
Marketing, general and administration  208,620 186,290  
Depreciation and amortization  185,401   
Aircraft leasing  173,412   
Inflight  156,411 139,478 

Maintenance  154,406 146,260  

Employee profit share  46,585  
  3,051,689   
Earnings from operations  375,720   
    

Non-operating income (expense):    

Finance income 15 18,391   
Finance costs 15 (48,900)   
Gain on foreign exchange  1,061  
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment  469   
Loss on fuel derivatives 16 (6,512)   

  (35,491)   
Earnings before income tax  340,229   
    

Income tax expense:    

Current  66,230   
Deferred   31,607  

 11 97,837   
Net earnings  242,392   
    

Earnings per share:     

Basic   1.79   
Diluted  1.78   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

WestJet 2012 Annual Report / 61



 
 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 Note 2012 2011 

Assets    

Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,408,199   
Restricted cash  6 51,623  

Accounts receivable 19 37,576   
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other 19 101,802   
Inventory  19 35,595   

   1,634,795  
Non-current assets:     

Property and equipment 7 1,985,599  
Intangible assets 8 50,808  
Other assets 19 75,413  

Total assets  3,746,615   
    

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity    

Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  19 460,003 109  
Advance ticket sales 19 480,947   
Non-refundable guest credits 19 47,859   
Current portion of long-term debt  10 164,909   
Current portion of maintenance provisions  9 34,135 245  

  1,187,853   
Non-current liabilities:    

Maintenance provisions 9 145,656   
Long-term debt 10 574,139   
Obligations under finance leases      
Other liabilities 19 9,914   
Deferred income tax  11 356,748  

Total liabilities  2,274,310  
    

Shareholders’ equity:    

Share capital 12 614,899   
Equity reserves  69,856   
Hedge reserves  (5,746)   
Retained earnings  793,296   

Total shareholders’ equity  1,472,305  
    

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  3,746,615 3,473,678 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 

  
   
Gregg Saretsky, Director  Hugh Bolton, Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
For the years ended December 31 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

 

 Note 2012 2011 

    

Operating activities:    

Net earnings  242,392  

Items not involving cash:    

Depreciation and amortization  185,401   
Change in long-term maintenance provisions  34,426 3 522  
Change in other liabilities  (383)   
Amortization of hedge settlements  1,400 400  
Loss on fuel derivatives 16 6,512   
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment   (469)   
Share-based payment expense 12 12,815   
Deferred income tax expense  31,607   
Finance income  (18,391) (15,987) 

Finance cost  48,900 60,911 

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss  (1,487)   
Change in non-cash working capital  173,563 89,739  
Change in restricted cash  (3,282) (19,758) 

Change in other assets  (6,894) (4,344)  
Cash interest received  17,780 14,631 

Cash taxes (paid) received  (950) 26 

Purchase of shares pursuant to compensation plans  (1,306)  

  721,634 6 460 

    

Investing activities:    

Aircraft additions  (218,116)   
Other property and equipment and intangible additions  (51,191)   
  (269,307)   
    

Financing activities:    

Increase in long-term debt  72,995  

Repayment of long-term debt  (162,678)   
Decrease in obligations under finance leases  (75)   
Shares repurchased 12 (112,065)   
Dividends paid 13 (37,549)   
Issuance of shares pursuant to compensation plans  198 34 

Cash interest paid  (43,055) (51,722) 
Change in non-cash working capital  (5,825) (2,084)  
  (288,054) (362,675) 

    

Cash flow from operating, investing and financing activities  164,273   
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents  321   
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  164,594  
    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  1,243,605  

    

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 5 1,408,199  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 Note 2012 2011 

    

Share capital:  12   

   Balance, beginning of year  630,408  

Issuance of shares pursuant to compensation plans  16,251 5,129 

Shares repurchased  (31,760)  

  614,899  

    

Equity reserves:     

Balance, beginning of year  74,184  

Share-based payment expense 12 12,815  

Issuance of shares pursuant to compensation plans  (17,143)  

  69,856  

    

Hedge reserves:    

Balance, beginning of year  (3,353)  
Other comprehensive income   (2,393)  

  (5,746)  
    

Retained earnings:    

Balance, beginning of year  668,978  
Dividends declared 13 (37,549)  
Shares repurchased 12 (80,305)  
Purchase of shares pursuant to compensation plans  (220)  

Net earnings  242,392  
  793,296  
    

Total shareholders’ equity  1,472,305 1,370,217 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
For the years ended December 31 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 2012 2011 

   

Net earnings 242,392 148,702 

   

Items to be reclassified to net earnings:   

Other comprehensive income, net of tax:   

Amortization of hedge settlements to aircraft leasing 1,400 1,400 

Net unrealized gain (loss) on foreign exchange derivatives (i) (2,611) 2,532 
Reclassification of net realized (gain) loss on foreign exchange derivatives to net 

earnings (ii) (926) 3,590 
Net unrealized loss on interest rate derivatives (iii) (566) (397) 

Reclassification of net realized loss on interest rate derivatives to net earnings (iv) 
310  

Net unrealized gain on fuel derivatives (v)  1,966 

Reclassification of net realized gain on fuel derivatives to net earnings (vi)  (1,974) 

 (2,393) 7,117 

   

Total comprehensive income 239,999 155,819 

(i) Net of income taxes of $904 (2011 – $(870)). 
(ii) Net of income taxes of $319 (2011 – $(1,250)). 
(iii) Net of income taxes of $199 (2011 – $135). 
(iv) Net of income taxes of $(108) (2011 – $nil). 
(v) Net of income taxes of $nil (2011 – $(679)). 
(vi) Net of income taxes of $nil (2011 – $682). 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 

1. Statement of significant accounting policies  

The annual consolidated financial statements of WestJet Airlines Ltd. (the Corporation) for the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011, were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 5, 2013. The Corporation is a public company 
incorporated and domiciled in Canada. The Corporation provides airline service and travel packages. The Corporation’s shares 
are publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange. The principal business address is 22 Aerial Place N.E., Calgary, Alberta, T2E 
3J1 and the registered office is Suite 2400, 525 - 8 Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 1G1.  

(a) Basis of presentation 

These annual consolidated financial statements and the notes hereto have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  

These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis except for certain financial assets 
and liabilities, including derivative financial instruments that are measured at fair value. Where applicable, these differences have 
been described in the notes hereto.    

Amounts presented in these annual consolidated financial statements and the notes hereto are in Canadian dollars, the 
Corporation’s reporting currency, unless otherwise stated. The Corporation’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar. 

(b) Principles of consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 
as well as the accounts of six special-purpose entities (SPEs), which are utilized to facilitate the financing of aircraft. The 
Corporation has no equity ownership in the SPEs; however, the substance of the relationship between the Corporation and the 
SPEs indicates that they are controlled by the Corporation. Accordingly, the accounts of the SPEs have been consolidated in the 
Corporation’s financial statements and all intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  

(c)  Seasonality 

The airline industry is sensitive to general economic conditions and the seasonal nature of air travel. The Corporation 
experiences increased domestic travel in the summer months and more demand for transborder and international travel over the 
winter months, thus reducing the effects of seasonality on net earnings. 

(d) Revenue recognition 

(i) Guest  

Guest revenue, including the air component of vacation packages, are recognized when air transportation is provided. Tickets 
sold but not yet used are reported in the consolidated statement of financial position as advance ticket sales.  

 (ii) Other 

Other revenue include charter revenue, cargo revenue, net revenue from the sale of the land component of vacation packages, 
ancillary revenue and other. 

Revenue for the land component of vacation packages is generated from providing agency services equal to the amount paid by 
the guest for products and services, less payment to the travel supplier, and is reported at the net amount received. Revenue 
from the land component is deferred as advance ticket sales and recognized in earnings on completion of the vacation.  

Ancillary revenue are recognized when the services and products are provided to the guests. Included in ancillary revenue are 
fees associated with guest itinerary changes or cancellations, baggage fees, buy-on-board sales, pre-reserved seating fees, and 
ancillary revenue from the WestJet Rewards Program.  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 

1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Revenue recognition (continued) 

(iii) WestJet Rewards Program 

The Corporation has a rewards program that allows guests to accumulate credits to be used towards flights and vacation 
packages. Revenue received in relation to credits issued is deferred as a liability at fair value until the credit is utilized and air 
transportation is provided, at which time it is recognized in guest revenue. Revenue associated with credits expected to expire 
(breakage) is recognized in other revenue at the time the revenue is expected to be received.  

The Corporation also has a co-branded MasterCard with the Royal Bank of Canada (RBC). RBC issues reward credits to 
cardholders as a percentage of their total retail spend. The fair value of these credits is deferred and recognized on redemption 
as described above. Revenue from cardholder retail spend is recognized in other revenue at the time a credit is issued. Revenue 
related to new cards issued is recognized in other revenue immediately upon activation. 

 (iv) Non-refundable guest credits 

The Corporation issues future travel credits to guests for flight changes and cancellations. Where appropriate, travel credits are 
also issued for flight delays, missing baggage and other inconveniences. All credits are non-refundable and have expiry dates 
dependent upon the nature of the credit. The Corporation records a liability at face value for credits issued for flight changes 
and cancellations. Revenue related to flight changes and cancellations is recorded in guest revenue when air transportation is 
provided. No liability is recorded for travel credits related to flight delays, missing baggage or other inconveniences as these 
credits are issued as goodwill gestures by the Corporation and do not represent a performance obligation. Credits issued as a 
sign of goodwill are recorded as a reduction to guest revenue when the credit is utilized.  

(e) Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability to another entity or 
equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets and liabilities, including derivatives, are recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at the time the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions. Upon initial 
recognition, financial instruments are measured at fair value. Subsequent measurement is based on designation in one of the 
following five categories: at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, available-for-sale or other 
financial liabilities.  

The following table lists the Corporation’s financial instruments and the method of measurement subsequent to initial 
recognition: 

Financial instrument Category Measurement method 

Cash and cash equivalents At fair value through profit or loss Fair value 
Restricted cash At fair value through profit or loss Fair value 
Deposits At fair value through profit or loss Fair value 
Accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
Long-term debt Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 
Finance lease obligations Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 
Derivative instruments At fair value through profit or loss Fair value 

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets and liabilities held-for-trading and 
financial assets and liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets and liabilities 
are classified as held-for-trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. This category 
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Corporation that are not designated as effective hedging 
instruments. As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Corporation did not hold any financial instruments classified as held-for-
trading. Financial assets and liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured 
at fair value with subsequent changes in fair value recorded in net earnings. The Corporation uses trade-date accounting for 
initial recognition of financial instruments in this category.  

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Impairment, if any, is recorded in net earnings. 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share amounts) 

1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method and include all liabilities other than 
derivatives, which are designated as cash flow hedges. 

The Corporation will, from time to time, use various financial derivatives to reduce market risk exposure from changes in foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and jet fuel prices. Derivatives are recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of 
financial position with changes in fair value recorded in net earnings unless designated as effective hedging instruments. 
Similarly, embedded derivatives are recorded at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position with the changes in 
fair value recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings unless exempted from derivative treatment as a normal purchase 
and sale or the host contract and derivative are deemed to be clearly and closely related. When financial assets and liabilities are 
designated as part of a hedging relationship and qualify for hedge accounting, they are subject to measurement and 
classification requirements as cash flow hedges. The Corporation’s policy is not to utilize der ivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

At each reporting period, the Corporation will assess whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset, other than 
those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, is impaired. 

The Corporation offsets qualifying transaction costs incurred in relation to the acquisition of financial assets and liabilit ies not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss against those same financial assets and liabilities. 

(f) Cash flow hedges  

The Corporation uses various financial derivative instruments such as forwards, swaps and call options to manage fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates, interest rates and jet fuel prices.  

The Corporation’s derivatives that have been designated and qualify for hedge accounting are classified as cash flow hedges. 
The Corporation formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk-
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction. This process includes linking all derivatives that are 
designated in a cash flow hedging relationship to a specific firm commitment or forecasted transaction. The Corporation also 
formally assesses, both at inception and at each reporting date, whether derivatives used in hedging transactions have been 
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items and whether those derivatives may be expected to remain 
highly effective in future periods. 

Under cash flow hedge accounting, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized 
in other comprehensive income (OCI) and presented within shareholders’ equity in hedge reserves. The ineffective portion of the 
change in fair value is recognized in non-operating income (expense). Upon maturity of the financial derivative instrument, the 
effective gains and losses previously accumulated in hedge reserves within shareholders’ equity are recorded in net earnings 
under the same caption as the hedged item. 

The Corporation excludes time value from the measurement of effectiveness; accordingly, changes in time value are recognized 
in non-operating income (expense) during the period the change occurs. 

If the hedging relationship ceases to qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, any change in fair value of the instrument from the 
point it ceases to qualify is recorded in non-operating income (expense). Amounts previously accumulated in hedge reserves 
within shareholders’ equity will remain in shareholders’ equity until the anticipated transaction occurs, at which time, the amount 
is recorded in net earnings under the same caption as the hedged item. If the transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts previously accumulated in hedge reserves within shareholders’ equity will be reclassified to non-operating income 
(expense). 

(g) Foreign currency 

Monetary assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign currencies, are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange in 
effect at the consolidated statement of financial position date, with any resulting gain or loss recognized in net earnings. Non-
monetary assets, non-monetary liabilities, revenue and expenses arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into Canadian dollars at the rates prevailing at the time of the transaction. 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term investments that are highly liquid in nature and have maturity dates of 
up to 92 days. 
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1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(i) Inventory 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out basis and a 
specific item basis depending on the nature of the inventory. The Corporation’s inventory balance consists of aircraft fuel, de-
icing fluid, retail merchandise and aircraft expendables. 

 (j) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated to its estimated residual value. Assets under finance leases are initially 
recorded at the present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. Expected useful lives and depreciation 
methods are reviewed annually. 

Asset class Basis Rate 

Aircraft, net of estimated residual value Straight-line 20 years 
Engine, airframe and landing gear overhaul Straight-line 8 to 15 years 
Live satellite television equipment Straight-line 10 years/Term of lease 
Ground property and equipment Straight-line 5 to 25 years 
Spare engines and rotables, net of estimated residual value Straight-line 20 years 
Buildings Straight-line 40 years 
Leasehold improvements Straight-line 5 years/Term of lease 
Assets under finance leases Straight-line Term of lease 

Estimated residual values of the Corporation’s aircraft range between $4,000 and $6,000 per aircraft. Spare engines have a 
residual value equal to 10% of the original purchase price. Residual values, where applicable, are reviewed annually against 
prevailing market rates at the consolidated statement of financial position date.  

Major overhaul expenditures are capitalized and depreciated over the expected life between overhauls. All other costs relating to 
the maintenance of fleet assets are charged to the consolidated statement of earnings on consumption or as incurred. 

Rotable assets are purchased, depreciated and disposed of on a pooled basis. When parts are purchased, the cost is added to 
the pool and depreciated over its useful life of 20 years. The cost to repair rotable parts is recognized in maintenance expense as 
incurred. 

(k) Intangible assets 

Included in intangible assets are costs related to software, landing rights and other. Software and landing rights are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortization and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives of five and 20 
years. Expected useful lives and amortization methods are reviewed annually. 

(l) Impairment 

Property and equipment and intangible assets are grouped into cash generating units (CGUs) and reviewed for impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the CGU may not be recoverable. When events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the CGU may not be recoverable, the long-lived assets are tested for 
recoverability by comparing the recoverable amounts, defined as the greater of the CGU’s fair value less cost to sell or value-in-
use, with the carrying amount of the CGU. Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a 
liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties, in an arm’s length transaction. Value-in-use is defined as the present 
value of the cash flows expected from the future use or eventual sale of the asset at the end of its useful life. If the carrying 
value of the CGU exceeds the greater of the fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use, an impairment loss is recognized in net 
earnings for the difference. Impairment losses may subsequently be reversed and recognized in earnings due to changes in 
events and circumstances, but only to the extent of the original carrying amount of the asset, net of depreciation or 
amortization, had the original impairment not been recognized. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(m) Maintenance provisions and reserves 

Provisions are made when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle a present legal or 
constructive obligation in respect of a past event and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. 

The Corporation’s aircraft operating lease agreements require leased aircraft to be returned to the lessor in a specified operating 
condition. This obligation requires the Corporation to record a maintenance provision liability for certain return conditions 
specified in the operating lease agreements. Certain obligations are based on aircraft usage and the passage of time, while 
others are fixed amounts regardless of aircraft usage or passage of time. Expected future costs are estimated based on 
contractual commitments and company-specific history. Each period, the Corporation recognizes additional maintenance 
expense based on increased aircraft usage, the passage of time and any changes to judgments or estimates, including discount 
rates and expected timing and cost of maintenance activities. The unwinding of the discounted present value is recorded as a 
finance cost on the consolidated statement of earnings. The discount rate used by the Corporation is the current pre-tax risk-
free rate approximated by the corresponding term of a Government of Canada Bond to the remaining term until cash outflow. 
Any difference between the provision recorded and the actual amount incurred at the time the maintenance activity is performed 
is recorded to maintenance expense.  

A certain number of aircraft leases also require the Corporation to pay a maintenance reserve to the lessor. Payments are based 
on aircraft usage. The purpose of these deposits is to provide the lessor with collateral should an aircraft be returned in an 
operating condition that does not meet the requirements stipulated in the lease agreement. Maintenance reserves are refunded 
to the Corporation when qualifying maintenance is performed, or if not refunded, act to reduce the end of lease obligation 
payments arising from the requirement to return leased aircraft in a specific operating condition. Where the amount of 
maintenance reserves paid exceeds the estimated amount recoverable from the lessor, the non-recoverable amount is recorded 
as maintenance expense in the period it is incurred.  

(n) Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is made at the inception of the arrangement based on the 
substance of the arrangement and whether (i) fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset and (ii) 
whether the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

Finance leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Finance leases are recognized as assets 
and liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. Any costs directly attributable to the 
finance lease are added to the cost of the leased asset. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between a finance charge, 
which produces a constant rate of interest on the outstanding liability, and a principal reduction of the lease liability. 
Depreciation of finance lease assets follows the same methods used for other similar owned assets over the term of the lease. 

Operating leases do not result in the transfer of substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Non-contingent lease 
payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. 

(o) Borrowing costs 

Interest and other borrowing costs are capitalized to a qualifying asset provided they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of the qualifying asset. For specific borrowings, any investment income on the temporary investment 
of borrowed funds is offset against the capitalized borrowing costs. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(p) Income taxes 

Current tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on amounts receivable from or payable to a tax authority within the next 
12 months. A current tax asset is recognized for a benefit relating to an unused tax loss or unused tax credit that can be carried 
back to recover current tax of a previous period. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and accounting bases of assets and 
liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position using the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to settle. The tax rates that are expected to be applied in future periods are based 
on the enacted or substantively enacted rates known at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets are only recognized 
to the extent that it is probable that a taxable profit will be available when the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 
A deferred tax asset is also recognized for any unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available for use against the unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not discounted. 

Current and deferred tax benefit or expense is recognized in the same period as the related transaction or event is recognized in 
net earnings. Current and deferred tax benefit or expense related to transactions or events in other comprehensive income or 
equity are recognized directly in those accounts. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset on the consolidated statement of financial position to the extent the Corporation has 
a legally enforceable right to offset and the amounts are levied by the same taxation authority or when the Corporation has the 
right to offset and intends to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are classified as long-term.  

(q) Share-based payment plans 

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument granted. An option 
valuation model is used to fair value stock options issued to employees on the date of grant. The market value of the 
Corporation’s voting shares on the date of the grant is used to determine the fair value of the equity-based share units issued to 
employees on the date of grant. 

The cost of the equity-settled share-based payments is recognized as compensation expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity reserves over the related service period provided to the Corporation. The service period may commence prior to the grant 
date with compensation expense recognition being subject to specific vesting conditions and the best estimate of equity 
instruments expected to vest. Estimates related to vesting conditions are reviewed regularly with any adjustments recorded to 
compensation expense. On the vesting date, the Corporation revises, if necessary, the estimate to equal the number of equity 
instruments ultimately vested and adjusts the corresponding compensation expense and equity reserves accordingly. 

Market conditions attached to certain equity-settled share-based payments are taken into account when estimating the fair value 
of the equity instruments granted. 

Upon exercise or settlement of equity-based instruments, consideration received, if any, together with amounts previously 
recorded in the equity reserves, are recorded as an increase in share capital. 

Cash-settled share-based payments are measured based on the fair value of the cash liability. The amount determined is 
recorded as compensation expense and recognized over the service period. The liability is remeasured each period with a 
corresponding adjustment to the related compensation expense until the date of settlement. 

(r)  Earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number of 
voting shares outstanding during the period, accounting for any changes to the number of voting shares outstanding without a 
corresponding change in resources. 

 Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings attributable to equity holders by the weighted average number 
of voting shares outstanding adjusted for the effects of all potential dilutive voting shares. Potential dilutive voting shares are 
only those shares that would result in a decrease to earnings per share or increase to loss per share. The calculation of potential 
dilutive voting shares assumes the exercise of all dilutive instruments at the average market price during the period with the 
proceeds received from exercise assumed to reduce the number of dilutive voting shares otherwise issued.   
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1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(s) Critical accounting judgments and estimates 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments 
and estimates that could materially affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements. By their nature, judgments and 
estimates may change in light of new facts and circumstances in the internal and external environment. The following judgments 
and estimates are those deemed by management to be material to the Corporation’s financial statements. 

Judgments 

(i) Componentization 

The componentization of the Corporation’s assets, namely aircraft, are based on management’s judgment of what components 
constitute a significant cost in relation to the total cost of an asset and whether these components have similar or dissimilar 
patterns of consumption and useful lives for purposes of calculating depreciation and amortization.  

(ii) Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization methods for aircraft and related components as well as other property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets are based on management’s judgment of the most appropriate method to reflect the pattern of an asset’s 
future economic benefit expected to be consumed by the Corporation. Among other factors, these judgments are based on 
industry standards, manufacturers’ guidelines and company-specific history and experience.  

(iii) Impairment 

Assessment of impairment is based on management’s judgment of whether there are sufficient internal and external factors that  
would indicate that an asset or CGU is impaired. The determination of CGUs is also based on management’s judgment and is an 
assessment of the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently of other assets. Factors considered include 
whether an active market exists for the output produced by the asset or group of assets as well as how management monitors 
and makes decisions about the Corporation’s operations.  

(iv) Lease classification 

Assessing whether a lease is a finance lease or an operating lease is based on management’s judgment of the criteria applied in 
IAS 17 – Leases. The most prevalent leases of the Corporation are those for aircraft. Management has determined that all of the 
Corporation’s leased aircraft are operating leases.  

Estimates 

(v) Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization are calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of assets on a systematic and 
rational basis over their expected useful lives. Estimates of residual value and useful lives are based on data and information 
from various sources including vendors, industry practice, and company-specific history. Expected useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed annually for any change to estimates and assumptions.  

(vi) Maintenance provisions 

The Corporation has a legal obligation to adhere to certain maintenance conditions set out in its aircraft operating lease 
agreements relating to the condition of the aircraft when it is returned to the lessor. To fulfill these obligations, a provision is 
made during the lease term. Estimates related to the maintenance provision include the likely utilization of the aircraft, the 
expected future cost of the maintenance, the point in time at which maintenance is expected to occur, the discount rate used to 
present value the future cash flows and the lifespan of life-limited parts. These estimates are based on data and information 
obtained from various sources including the lessor, current maintenance schedules and fleet plans, contracted costs with 
maintenance service providers, other vendors and company-specific history. 

   (vii) Fair value of awards and breakage associated with the WestJet Rewards Program 

Estimates are required in determining the amount of revenue to be recognized or deferred in relation to credits awarded under 
the rewards program. These estimates are based on the amount of reward credits expected to expire (breakage). Management 
bases its estimates on company-specific redemption history, industry results and future forecasts of expected redemption.  
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1. Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(s) Critical accounting judgments and estimates (continued) 

Estimates (continued) 

(vii) Income taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities contain estimates about the nature and timing of future permanent and temporary differences 
as well as the future tax rates that will apply to those differences. Changes in tax laws and rates as well as changes to the 
expected timing of reversals may have a significant impact on the amounts recorded for deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
Management closely monitors current and potential changes to tax law and bases its estimates on the best available information 
at each reporting date. 

(ix) Impairment 

Impairment assessments may require the Corporation to determine the recoverable amount of a CGU, defined as the smallest 
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows independent of other assets. This determination requires significant 
estimates in a variety of areas including: the determination of fair value, selling costs, timing and size of cash flows, and 
discount and interest rates. The Corporation documents and supports all assumptions made in the determination of a 
recoverable amount and updates these assumptions to reflect the best information available to the Corporation if and when an 
impairment assessment requires the recoverable amount of a CGU to be determined. 

(x) Fair value of equity-settled share-based payments  

The Corporation uses an option pricing model to determine the fair value of certain share-based payments. Inputs to the model 
are subject to various estimates about volatility, interest rates, dividend yields and expected life of the units issued. Fair value 
inputs are subject to market factors as well as internal estimates. The Corporation considers historic trends together with any 
new information to determine the best estimate of fair value at the date of grant.  

Separate from the fair value calculation, the Corporation is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate of equity-settled 
share-based payments. The Corporation has assessed forfeitures to be insignificant based on the underlying terms of its 
payment plans.  

(xi) Fair value of derivative instruments 

       The fair value of derivative instruments is estimated using inputs, including forward prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates 
and historical volatilities. These inputs are subject to change on a regular basis based on the interplay of various market forces. 
Consequently, the fair value of the Corporation’s derivative instruments are subject to regular changes in fair value each  
reporting period. 
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2. New accounting standards and interpretations  

The IASB and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) have issued the following standards that have 
not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements as their effective dates fall within annual periods beginning 
subsequent to the current reporting period. 

Proposed standards Description Previous standard  
Effective 
date (i) 

IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Builds on the existing principles of control and 
elaborates on the definition of control when 
determining whether an entity should be 
consolidated or not. 

SIC-12 – Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities 

IAS 27 – Consolidated 
and Separate Financial 
Statements 

January 1, 
2013 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements Focuses on the rights and obligations of an 
arrangement rather than its legal form and 
requires a single method to account for interests 
in jointly controlled entities. 

IAS 31 – Interests in 
Joint Ventures 

SIC 13 – Jointly 
Controlled Entities – 
Non-Monetary 
Contributions by 
Venturers 

January 1, 
2013 

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of 
Interests in Other Entities 

A new standard detailing disclosure requirements 
for all forms of interests in other entities, 
including joint arrangements, associates, special 
purpose entities and other off-statement of 
financial position vehicles. 

Various – no direct 
replacement 

January 1, 
2013 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value 
Measurement 

Sets out a single framework for measuring fair 
value and disclosure requirements surrounding 
the inputs and assumptions used in determining 
fair value. 

Various – no direct 
replacement 

January 1, 
2013 

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments Addresses the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

IAS 39 – Financial 
Instruments: 
Recognition and 
Measurement 

January 1, 
2015 

(i) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after the stated date. 

Management has performed an initial assessment of these new standards effective January 1, 2013 and anticipates the impact 
will result in additional disclosure requirements, but no recognition or measurement impacts to the financial statements. The 
Corporation does not expect to early adopt these standards. 
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3. Capital management 

The Corporation’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain the future development of the airline. The Corporation manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of 
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Corporation may, from time to time, purchase shares for cancellation pursuant  to 
normal course issuer bids, issue new shares, pay dividends and adjust current and projected debt levels.  

In the management of capital, the Corporation includes shareholders’ equity (excluding hedge reserves), long-term debt, finance 
leases, cash and cash equivalents and the Corporation’s off-balance-sheet obligations related to its aircraft operating leases, all 
of which are presented in detail below.  

 The Corporation monitors its capital structure on a number of bases, including adjusted debt-to-equity and adjusted net debt to 
earnings before net finance costs, taxes, depreciation and amortization and aircraft leasing (EBITDAR). EBITDAR is an additional 
GAAP financial measure commonly used in the airline industry to evaluate results by excluding differences in tax jurisdictions and 
in the method an airline finances its aircraft. In addition, the Corporation will adjust EBITDAR for non-operating gains and losses 
on derivatives and foreign exchange. The calculation of EBITDAR is a measure that does not have a standardized meaning 
prescribed under IFRS and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. The Corporation 
adjusts debt to include its off-balance-sheet aircraft operating leases. Common industry practice is to multiply the trailing 12 
months of aircraft leasing expense by 7.5 to derive a present-value debt equivalent. The Corporation defines adjusted net debt 
as adjusted debt less cash and cash equivalents. The Corporation defines equity as total shareholders’ equity, excluding hedge 
reserves. 

 2012 2011 Change 

Adjusted debt-to-equity     

Long-term debt (i) 739,048  (89,664) 

Obligations under finance leases (ii)   (3,249) 

Off-balance-sheet aircraft leases (iii) 1,300,590  58,807 

Adjusted debt 2,039,638  (34,106) 

Total shareholders’ equity 1,472,305  102,088 

Add: Hedge reserves 5,746  2,393 

Adjusted equity 1,478,051  104,481 

Adjusted debt-to-equity (vi) 1.38  (8.6%) 

Adjusted net debt to EBITDAR    

Adjusted debt (as above) 2,039,638  (34,106) 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (1,408,199)  (164,594) 

Adjusted net debt 631,439  (198,700) 

Net earnings 242,392  93,690 

Add:    

Net finance costs (iv) 30,509  (14,415) 

Taxes 97,837  38,533 

Depreciation and amortization 185,401  10,650 

Aircraft leasing 173,412  7,841 

Other (v) 5,451  1,884 

EBITDAR 735,002  138,183 

Adjusted net debt to EBITDAR (vi) 0.86  (38.1%) 

(i) As at December 31, 2012, long-term debt includes the current portion of long-term debt of $164,909 (2011 – $158,832) and long-term debt of 
$574,139 (2011 – $669,880). 

(ii) As at December 31, 2012, obligations under finance leases includes the current portion of obligations under finance leases of $nil (2011 – $ ) and 
obligations under finance leases of $nil (2011 – $ ). 

(iii) Off-balance-sheet aircraft leases is calculated by multiplying the trailing 12 months of aircraft leasing expense by 7.5. As at December 31, 2012, the 
trailing 12 months of aircraft leasing costs totaled $173,412 (2011 – $ ). 

(iv) As at December 31, 2012, net finance costs includes the trailing 12 months of finance income of $18,391 (2011 – $ ) and the trailing 12 months 
of finance costs of $48,900 (2011 – $ ). 

(v) As at December 31, 2012, other includes the trailing 12 months foreign exchange gain of $1,061 (2011 – gain of $ ) and the trailing 12 months 
non-operating loss on derivatives of $ 51  (2011 – loss of $ ). 

(vi) As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Corporation exceeded its internal targets of an adjusted debt-to-equity measure of no more than 3.00 and an 
adjusted net debt to EBITDAR measure of no more than 3.00. 
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 4. Employee counts and compensation  

The Corporation employed 742 full-time equivalent employees as at December 31, 2012 (2011 – ). The following table 
reconciles the Corporation’s compensation expense items to where the amounts are presented on the consolidated statement of 
earnings: 

 Note 2012 2011 

Salaries and benefits (i)  538,917  

Employee share purchase plan 12 65,439  

Employee profit share (ii)   46,585  

Share-based payment expense 12 12,815  

  663,756  

Presented on the consolidated statement of earnings as follows: 

Airport operations  91,267  

Flight operations and navigational charges  200,883 74 

Sales and distribution  61,347 57,364 

Marketing, general and administration  90,923 75,586 

Inflight  122,025  

Maintenance  50,726  

Employee profit share  46,585  

  663,756  

(i)  Salaries and benefits expense is classified in the consolidated statement of earnings based on the related nature of the service performed. 

(ii)  Employee profit share expense is a variable payment based on a percentage of pre-tax earnings available to all employees.  

5. Cash and cash equivalents  

 
December 31         

2012 
December 31 

2011 
Cash and cash equivalents (i):   

Bank balances   
Short-term investments   

   
(i) Included in these balances, as at December 31, 2012, the Corporation has US-dollar cash and cash equivalents totalling US $  (2011 – US $ ).  

6. Restricted cash   

 
December 31         

2012 
December 31 

2011 
Restricted cash:   

Cash held in trust for WestJet Vacations Inc.   
Security on facilities for letters of guarantee   
Passenger facility charges 7  

 3  
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7. Property and equipment 

 
January 1  

2012 
Net 

additions Depreciation(i) Transfers 
December 31 

2012 

Aircraft (ii) 1,514,633 96,502 (154,301) 20,554 1,477,388 
Ground property and equipment 59,663 7,504 (11,795) 1,743 57,115 
Spare engines and rotables 90,416 16,856 (8,240) 2,677 101,709 
Deposits on aircraft 110,245 114,084 − (15,727) 208,602 
Buildings 119,236 102 (3,439) − 115,899 
Leasehold improvements 11,355 799 (1,429) 277 11,002 
Assets under finance leases 3,105 (2,969) (136) − − 
Assets under development 2,574 20,834 − (9,524) 13,884 
 1,911,227 253,712 (179,340) − 1,985,599 

 

 
January 1 

2011 
Net 

additions Depreciation(i) Transfers 
December 31 

2011 

Aircraft (ii) 1,616,263 32,164 (149,021) 15,227 1,514,633 
Ground property and equipment 60,298 9,669 (10,843) 539 59,663 
Spare engines and rotables 72,952 18,904 (6,305) 4,865 90,416 
Deposits on aircraft 98,344 23,880 − (11,979) 110,245 
Buildings 122,662 6 (3,432) − 119,236 
Leasehold improvements 6,617 2,648 (761) 2,851 11,355 
Assets under finance leases 3,243 − (138) − 3,105 
Assets under development 9,143 4,934 − (11,503) 2,574 
 1,989,522 92,205 (170,500) − 1,911,227 

(i)  For the year ended December 31, 2012, total aircraft depreciation expense was $  (2011 - $ ) for overhaul components and $  (2011 
- $ ) for aircraft, including live satellite television equipment.  

(ii)   Aircraft includes (a) aircraft (b) engine, airframe and landing gear overhauls, and (c) live satellite television equipment. 

December 31, 2012 Cost 
Accumulated 
depreciation 

Net book 
value 

Aircraft  2,605,277 (1,127,889) 1,477,388 
Ground property and equipment 136,167 (79,052) 57,115 
Spare engines and rotables 146,422 (44,713) 101,709 
Deposits on aircraft 208,602 − 208,602 
Buildings 135,924 (20,025) 115,899 
Leasehold improvements 16,538 (5,536) 11,002 
Assets under finance leases 821 (821) − 
Assets under development 13,884 − 13,884 
 3,263,635 (1,278,036) 1,985,599 

 

December 31, 2011 Cost 
Accumulated 
depreciation 

Net book 
value 

Aircraft  2,510,811 (996,178) 1,514,633 
Ground property and equipment 130,543 (70,880) 59,663 
Spare engines and rotables 130,675 (40,259) 90,416 
Deposits on aircraft 110,245 − 110,245 
Buildings 135,822 (16,586) 119,236 
Leasehold improvements 15,462 (4,107) 11,355 
Assets under finance leases 4,221 (1,116) 3,105 
Assets under development 2,574 − 2,574 
 3,040,353 (1,129,126) 1,911,227 

The net book value of the property and equipment pledged as collateral for the Corporation’s long-term debt was $1,380,412 as 
at December 31, 2012 (2011 – $1,403,422). 
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8. Intangible assets 

 
January 1  

2012 
Net 

additions Amortization Transfers 
December 31 

2012 

Software 
15,136 3,985 (5,540) 5,389 18,970 

Landing Rights 17,782 − (521) − 17,261 

Other − 4,956 − − 4,956 

Assets under development 875 14,135 − (5,389) 9,621 

 33,793 23,076 (6,061) − 50,808 

 

 
January 1 

2011 
Net 

additions Amortization Transfers 
December 31 

2011 

Software 
10,867 2,779 (4,251) 5,741 15,136 

Landing Rights − 17,782 − − 17,782 

Other − − − − − 

Assets under development 2,151 4,465 − (5,741) 875 

 13,018 25,026 (4,251) − 33,793 

 

December 31, 2012 Cost 
Accumulated 
amortization 

Net book 
value 

Software 54,519 (35,549) 18,970 

Landing Rights 17,782 (521) 17,261 

Other 4,956 − 4,956 

Assets under development 9,621 − 9,621 

 86,878 (36,070) 50,808 

 

December 31, 2011 Cost 
Accumulated 
amortization 

Net book 
value 

Software 45,145 (30,009) 15,136 

Landing Rights 17,782 − 17,782 

Other − − − 

Assets under development 875 − 875 

 63,802 (30,009) 33,793 
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9.    Maintenance provisions and reserves  

The Corporation’s operating aircraft lease agreements require leased aircraft to be returned to the lessor in a specified operating 
condition. The maintenance provision liability represents the present value of the expected future cost. A maintenance expense 
is recognized over the term of the provision based on aircraft usage and the passage of time, while the unwinding of the present 
value discount is recognized as a finance cost. The majority of the Corporation’s maintenance provision liabilities are recognized 
and settled in US dollars. Where applicable, all amounts have been converted to Canadian dollars at the period end foreign 
exchange rate. 

 2012 2011 

Opening balance 151,890 125,578 

Additions 33,502 27,758 

Change in estimate (i) (3,866) 8,675 

Foreign exchange (3,479) 2,775 

Accretion (ii) 2,013 5,078 

Settled (269) (17,974) 

Ending balance  179,791 151,890 

Current portion  (34,135) (245) 

Long-term portion 145,656 151,645 

(i) Reflects changes to the timing and scope of maintenance activities and the discount rate used to present value the liability. 

(ii) At December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s aircraft lease maintenance provisions are discounted using a weighted average risk-free rate of approximately 
1.16% to reflect the weighted average remaining term of approximately 38 months until cash outflow.  

A certain number of operating aircraft leases also require the Corporation to pay a maintenance reserve to the lessor. 
Maintenance reserves are either refunded when qualifying maintenance is performed or offset against end of lease obligations 
for returning leased aircraft in a specified operating condition. Where the amount of maintenance reserves paid exceeds the 
estimated amount recoverable from the lessor, the non-recoverable amount is recorded as maintenance expense in the period it 
is incurred. The Corporation’s maintenance reserves are recognized and settled in US dollars. Where applicable, all amounts 
have been converted to Canadian dollars at the period end foreign exchange rate. 

As at December 31, 2012, the current portion of maintenance reserves included in prepaid expenses, deposits and other is 
$32,586 (2011 – $nil) and the long-term portion of maintenance reserves included in other assets is $21,277 (2011 – $49,655).  

10. Long-term debt  

 
December 31 

 2012 
December 31 

 2011 

Term loans – purchased aircraft (i) 669,859 828,104 

Term loans – purchased aircraft (ii) 69,154  

Term loan – Calgary hangar facility (iii) 35 608 

 739,048 828,712 

Current portion (164,909) (158,832) 

 574,139 669,880 

(i) 52 individual term loans, amortized over a 12-year term, repayable in quarterly principal instalments totalling $40,676, at an effective weighted average 
fixed rate of %, maturing between  and . These facilities are guaranteed by Export-Import Bank of the United States (Ex-Im Bank) and 
secured by one 800-series aircraft,  700-series aircraft and  600-series aircraft. 

(ii) Two individual term loans, amortized over a 12-year term, repayable in quarterly principal instalments totalling $1,613, in addition to a floating rate of 
interest at the three month Canadian Dealer Offered Rate plus 75 basis points, with an effective weighted average floating interest rate of 3.17% at 
December 31, 2012, maturing in 2024. The facility is guaranteed by Ex-Im Bank and secured by two 800-series aircraft. 

(iii) Term loan repayable in monthly instalments of $ , including floating interest at the bank’s prime rate plus %, with an effective interest rate of 
% as at December 31, 2012, with a final repayment of $35 in January 013, secured by the Calgary hangar facility. 

Future scheduled repayments of long-term debt as at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 

Within 1 year 164,909 

1 – 3 years 302,021 

3 – 5 years 172,671 

Over 5 years  99,447 

 739,048 

There are no financial covenant compliance requirements for the facilities guaranteed by the Ex-Im Bank related to aircraft 
purchases. 
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11.  Income taxes  

(a) Reconciliation of total tax expense 

The effective rate on the Corporation’s earnings before income tax differs from the expected amount that would arise using the 
combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rates. A reconciliation of the difference is as follows: 

 2012 2011 

Earnings before income tax 340,229 208,006 

Combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate                                                                                     25.95% 27.26% 

Expected income tax provision 88,289 56,702 

   

Add (deduct):   

Non-deductible expenses 3,709 3,344 

Non-deductible share-based payment expense 2,978 3,430 

Effect of tax rate changes 4,426 (4,539) 

Other (1,565) 367 

Actual income tax provision 97,837 59,304 

Effective tax rate 28.76% 28.51% 

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2012 is similar to the prior year. As earnings increase, the impact of 
relatively fixed permanent differences on the overall effective tax rate is less pronounced, resulting in a corresponding decrease 
in the effective tax rate. However, this decrease was more than offset by an increase due to enacted tax rate changes in certain 
Canadian provincial jurisdictions for current and future years. 

(b)  Deferred tax 

Components of the net deferred tax liability are as follows: 

 December 31 
2012 

December 31 
2011 

Deferred tax liability:   

Property and equipment (262,219) (278,003) 

Deferred partnership income (101,352) (67,473) 

Net unrealized gain on derivatives designated in a hedging relationship  (1,062) 

Deferred tax asset:   

Share issue costs 373 747 

Net unrealized loss on derivatives designated in a hedging relationship 253 − 

Non-capital losses(i) 752 7,348 

Credit carry forwards(ii)  5,445 11,987 

 (356,748) (326,456) 

(i) Non-capital losses will begin to expire in 2030. 

(ii) Credit carry forwards recognized for unused corporate minimum tax credits will begin to expire in 2028. 
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12.  Share Capital 

(a) Authorized 

Unlimited number of common voting shares 

The common voting shares may be owned and controlled only by Canadians and shall confer the right to one vote per common 
voting share at all meetings of shareholders of the Corporation. 

If a common voting share becomes beneficially owned or controlled by a person who is not a Canadian, such common voting 
share shall be converted into one variable voting share automatically and without any further act of the Corporation or the 
holder. 

Unlimited number of variable voting shares 

The variable voting shares may be beneficially owned and controlled only by a person who is not Canadian and are entitled to 
one vote per variable voting share unless (i) the number of issued and outstanding variable voting shares exceed 25% of the 
total number of all issued and outstanding variable voting shares and common voting shares collectively, including securities 
currently convertible into such a share and currently exercisable options and rights to acquire such shares (or any higher 
percentage the Governor in Council may specify pursuant to the Canada Transportation Act) or (ii) the total number of votes 
cast by or on behalf of the holders of variable voting shares at any meeting exceeds 25% (or any higher percentage the 
Governor in Council may specify pursuant to the Canada Transportation Act) of the total number of votes cast that may be cast 
at such meeting. 

If either of the thresholds described in the paragraph above is surpassed at any time, the vote attached to each variable voting 
share will decrease automatically and without further act or formality to equal the maximum permitted vote per variable voting 
share.  In the circumstance described in (i) in the paragraph above, the variable voting shares as a class cannot carry more than 
25% (or any higher percentage the Governor in Council may specify pursuant to the Canada Transportation Act) of the 
aggregate votes attached to all variable voting shares and common voting shares collectively, including securities currently 
convertible into such a share and currently exercisable options and rights to acquire such shares.  In the circumstance descr ibed 
in (ii) in the paragraph above, the variable voting shares as a class cannot, for a given shareholders’ meeting, carry more than 
25% (or any higher percentage the Governor in Council may specify pursuant to the Canada Transportation Act) of the total 
number of votes that can be exercised at the meeting. 

Each issued and outstanding variable voting share shall be automatically converted into one common voting share without any 
further intervention on the part of the Corporation or of the holder if (i) the variable voting share is or becomes owned and 
controlled by a Canadian or if (ii) the provisions contained in the Canada Transportation Act relating to foreign ownership 
restrictions are repealed and not replaced with other similar provisions in applicable legislation. 

Unlimited number of non-voting shares and unlimited number of non-voting first, second and third preferred 
shares 

The non-voting shares and non-voting preferred shares may be issued, from time to time in one or more series, each series 
consisting of such number of non-voting shares and non-voting preferred shares as determined by the Corporation’s Board of 
Directors who may also fix the designations, rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the shares of each series 
of non-voting shares and non-voting preferred shares. There are no non-voting shares or non-voting preferred shares issued 
and outstanding.  
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12. Share capital (continued) 

(b) Issued and outstanding 

 2012 2011 
 Number Amount Number Amount 

Common and variable voting shares:     
Balance, beginning of year     
Issuance of shares pursuant to compensation plans 890,556 16,251 248,232 5,129 
Shares repurchased     

Balance, end of year     

As at December 31, 2012, the number of common voting shares outstanding was  (2011 – ) and the 
number of variable voting shares was  (2011 – ). 

On February 7, 2012, the Corporation filed a notice with the TSX to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase outstanding 
shares on the open market. As approved by the TSX, the Corporation was authorized to purchase up to 6,914,330 common 
voting shares and variable voting shares (representing approximately 5% of the Corporation’s issued and outstanding shares at  
the time of the bid) during the period February 10, 2012 to February 9, 2013, or until such time as the bid was completed or 
terminated at the Corporation’s option. Any shares purchased under this bid were purchased on the open market through the 
facilities of the TSX at the prevailing market price at the time of the transaction. Common voting shares and variable voting 
shares acquired under this bid were cancelled. As of November 26, 2012 the Corporation successfully completed the bid for total 
consideration of $112,065.  The average book value of the shares repurchased of $  per share was charged to share capital 
with the $  excess of the market price over the average book value, including transaction costs, charged to retained 
earnings.  

(c) Stock option plan 

The Corporation has a stock option plan, whereby at December 31, 2012, 10,797,269 (2011 – 11,520,284) voting shares were 
reserved for issuance to officers and employees of the Corporation, subject to the following limitations: 

(i)  the number of common voting shares reserved for issuance to any one optionee will not exceed 5% of the issued and 
outstanding voting shares at any time; 

(ii) the number of common voting shares reserved for issuance to insiders shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding 
voting shares; and 

(iii) the number of common voting shares issuable under the stock option plans, which may be issued within a one-year period, 
shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding voting shares at any time. 

Stock options are granted at a price equal to the five day weighted average market value of the Corporation’s voting shares 
preceding the date of grant and vest completely or on a graded basis on the first, second and third anniversary from the date of 
grant. Stock options expire no later than seven years from the date of grant. 
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12. Share capital (continued) 

(c) Stock option plan (continued) 

Changes in the number of options, with their weighted average exercise prices, are summarized below: 

 2012 2011 

 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
Number of 

options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Stock options outstanding, beginning of year     
Granted     
Exercised     
Forfeited     
Expired     

Stock options outstanding, end of year     

Exercisable, end of year     

Under the terms of the Corporation's stock option plan, with the approval of the Corporation, option holders can either (i) elect 
to receive shares by delivering cash to the Corporation in the amount of the exercise price of the options, or (ii) choose a 
cashless settlement alternative, whereby they can elect to receive a number of shares equivalent to the market value of the 
options over the exercise price. For the year ended December 31, 2012, option holders exercised  options (2011 – 

 options) on a cashless settlement basis and received  shares (2011 –  shares). For the year ended 
December 31, 2012, 15,232 options were exercised on a cash basis and received 15,232 shares (2011 – 2,689 options and 
2,689 shares, respectively). 

The following table summarizes the options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2012: 

Outstanding options Exercisable options 

Range of exercise 
prices 

Number 
outstanding 

Weighted average 
remaining life 

(years) 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 
Number 

exercisable 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

11.00–12.50      
12.51–15.50      
15.51–19.99      

      

 
The fair value of the options is expensed over the service period, with an offsetting entry to equity reserves. The fair value of 
each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Upon the exercise of stock 
options, consideration received, together with amounts previously recorded in equity reserves, is recorded as an increase to 
share capital. 

The fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the assumptions used in their 
determination are as follows: 

 2012 2011 

Weighted average fair value per option   
Weighted average risk-free interest rate   
Weighted average expected volatility   
Expected life of options (years)   
Weighted average dividend yield   
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12. Share capital (continued) 

(d) Key employee and pilot plan 

 The Corporation has a key employee and pilot (KEP) plan, whereby restricted share units (RSU) are issued to key employees and 
pilots of the Corporation. The fair market value of the RSUs at the time of grant is equal to the weighted average trading pr ice 
of the Corporation’s voting shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the grant date. Each RSU entitles the 
employee to receive payment upon vesting in the form of voting shares of the Corporation. The Corporation intends to settle a ll 
RSUs with shares either through the purchase of voting shares on the open market or the issuance of new shares from treasury; 
however, wholly at its own discretion, the Corporation may settle the units in cash. The RSU ’s time vest at the end of a two or 
three-year period, with compensation expense being recognized in net earnings over the service period. As at December 31, 
2012, 947,398 (2011 – 979,021) voting shares of the Corporation were reserved for issuance under the KEP plan. For the year 
ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation settled 31,610 and 87,058 RSUs with shares issued from treasury and through the 
open market, respectively. 

 

 2012 2011 

 Number of 
units 

Weighted fair 
value 

Number of 
units 

Weighted fair 
value 

Units outstanding, beginning of year   171,129 12.77 
Granted     

Units, in lieu of dividends     
Settled     
Forfeited     
Units outstanding, end of year     
Vested, end of year – – – – 

(e)  Executive share unit plan  

The Corporation has an equity-based executive share unit (ESU) plan, whereby RSUs and performance share units (PSU) may be 
issued to senior executive officers. As at December 31, 2012, 1,023,507 (2011 – 959,425) voting shares of the Corporation were 
reserved for issuance under the ESU plan.  

The fair market value of the RSUs and PSUs at the time of grant is equal to the weighted average trading price of the 
Corporation’s voting shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the grant date.  

Each RSU entitles the senior executive officers to receive payment upon exercise in the form of voting shares of the Corporation. 
RSUs time vest over a period of up to three years, with compensation expense being recognized in net earnings over the service 
period.  

Each PSU entitles the senior executive officers to receive payment upon exercise in the form of voting shares of the Corporation. 
PSUs time vest over a period of up to three years and incorporate performance criteria established at the time of grant. 
Compensation expense is recognized in net earnings over the service period based on the number of units expected to vest. 

 2012 2011 

 RSUs PSUs RSUs PSUs 

 
Number  
of units 

Weighted 
fair value 

Number  
of units 

Weighted 
fair value 

Number  
of units 

Weighted 
fair value 

Number  
of units 

Weighted 
fair value 

Units outstanding, 
beginning of year         

Granted         
Settled   (50,087) 13.28   – – 
Forfeited – –       

Units outstanding, 
end of year         

Vested, end of year – – – –     
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12. Share capital (continued) 

(f) Share-based payment expense  

 The following table summarizes share-based payment expense for the Corporation’s equity-based plans: 

 2012 2011 

Stock option plan   
Key employee and pilot plan    
Executive share unit plan   
Total share-based payment expense   
Presented on the consolidated statement of earnings as follows: 

Flight operations and navigational charges   
Marketing, general and administration   
Total share-based payment expense   

(g) Deferred share units 

The Corporation has a cash-settled deferred share unit (DSU) plan as an alternative form of compensation for independent 
members of the Corporation’s Board of Directors. Each DSU entitles a participant to receive cash equal to the market value of 
the equivalent number of shares of the Corporation. The number of DSUs granted is determined based on the closing price of 
the Corporation’s common shares on the trading day immediately prior to the date of grant. Total compensation expense is 
recognized at the time of grant. Fluctuations in the market value are recognized in the period in which the fluctuations occur. 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, 21,162 (2011 – 21,146) DSUs were granted, with $1,080 (2011 – $108) of expense 
included in marketing, general and administration expense. During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the 
Corporation did not settle any DSUs. The carrying amount of the liability, included in trade and other payables, relating to the 
cash-settled DSUs as at December 31, 2012 is $2,046 (2011 - $966). As at December 31, 2012, 103,296 (2011 – 82,134) DSUs 
are vested and outstanding. DSUs are redeemable upon the Director’s retirement from the Board.  

(h) Employee share purchase plan 

The Corporation has an employee share purchase plan (ESPP), whereby the Corporation matches every dollar contributed by 
each employee. Under the terms of the ESPP, employees may contribute up to a maximum of 20% of their gross pay and 
acquire voting shares of the Corporation at the current fair market value of such shares. Employees are restricted from 
transferring, withdrawing or selling these ESPP shares for one year from the date of acquisition. Employees may offer to sell 
ESPP shares, which have not been held for at least one year, to the Corporation, at a purchase price equal to 50% of the 
weighted average trading price of the Corporation’s voting shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the employee’s 
notice to the Corporation, to a maximum of four times per year. 

Under the terms of the ESPP, the Corporation acquires voting shares on behalf of employees through open market purchases. 

The Corporation’s share of the contributions in 2012 amounted to $65,439 (2011 – $58,682) and is recorded as compensation 
expense within the related business unit. 

13. Dividends 

During the year ended December 31, 2012 the Corporation declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.06 per share in the first and 
second quarters and $0.08 per share in the third and fourth quarters on its common voting shares and variable voting shares. 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation paid dividends totalling $37,549 (2011 – $ ). 
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14. Earnings per share  

 The following reflects the share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 

 2012 2011 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic   

Effect of dilution   

Employee stock options   
Key employee and pilot - Restricted share units   
Executive - Restricted share units   
Executive - Performance share units   

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted   

For the year ended December 31, 2012, 734,448 employee stock options (2011 – 3,646,624) and 8,932 (2011 – nil) restricted 
share units were not included in the calculation of dilutive potential shares as the result would have been anti-dilutive. 

There have been no other transactions involving shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of these 
statements. 

15. Finance income and cost  

  2012 2011 
Finance income:     

Interest on cash and cash equivalents  18,391 15,987 

 

 Note 2012 2011 
Finance cost:    

Interest on term loans and finance leases  46,887 55,833 
Accretion on aircraft lease return obligations 9 2,013 5,078 

  48,900 60,911 

16. Financial instruments and risk management 

(a) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities  

The Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts 
receivable, derivative instruments designated and not designated in an effective hedging relationship, certain interest-bearing 
deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, long-term debt and obligations under finance leases. The following tables set 
out the Corporation’s classification and carrying amount, together with the fair value, for each type of financial asset and 
financial liability as at December 31, 2012 and 2011: 

 Fair value Amortized cost Total 

December 31, 2012 
Through profit 

or loss Derivatives 
Loans and 
receivables 

Other financial 
liabilities 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Asset (liability):       

Cash and cash equivalents (i) 1,459,822 – – – 1,459,822 1,459,822 

Accounts receivable 
– – 37,576 – 37,576 37,576 

Foreign exchange derivatives (ii) – (98) – – (98) (98) 

Interest rate derivatives (iv) 
– (879) – – (879) (879) 

Deposits (v) 31,088 – – – 31,088 31,088 
Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities (vi) – – – (417,377) (417,377) (417,377) 

Long-term debt (vii) – – – (739,048) (739,048) (810,640) 

 1,490,910 (977) 37,576 (1,156,425) 371,084 299,492 
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16. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(a) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 Fair value Amortized cost Total 

December 31, 2011 
Through profit 

or loss Derivatives 
Loans and 
receivables 

Other financial 
liabilities 

Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Asset (liability):       

Cash and cash equivalents (i) 1,291,946 – – – 1,291,946 1,291,946 
Accounts receivable 

– – 34,122 – 34,122 34,122 
Foreign exchange derivatives (ii) – 4,662 – – 4,662 4,662 
Fuel derivatives (iii) – 7,611 – – 7,611 7,611 
Interest rate derivative (iv) 

– (532) – – (532) (532) 

Deposits (v) 28,386 – – – 28,386 28,386 
Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities (vi) – – – (284,902) (284,902) (284,902) 
Long-term debt (vii) – – – (828,712) (828,712) (937,336) 
Obligations under finance leases (viii)  – – – (3,249) (3,249) (3,249) 

 1,320,332 11,741 34,122 (1,116,863) 249,332 140,708 
(i) Includes restricted cash of $51,623 (2011 – $48,341). 

(ii) Includes $800 (2011 – $4,662) classified in prepaid expenses, deposits and other, and $898 (2011 – $nil) classified in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities.  

(iii) At December 31, 2011 $7,611 was classified in prepaid expenses, deposits and other. 

(iv) Includes current portion of interest rate derivatives of $611 (2011 - $112) included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term portion of 
interest rate derivatives of $268 (2011 - $420) included in other long-term liabilities. 

(v) Includes $19,241 (2011 – $16,278) classified in prepaid expenses, deposits and other, and $11,847 (2011 – $12,108) classified in other assets. 

(vi) Excludes deferred WestJet Rewards Program revenue of $41,117 (2011 – $22,020), foreign exchange derivative liabilities of $898 (2011 – $nil), and 
interest rate derivative liabilities of $611 (2011 – $112). 

(vii) Includes current portion of long-term debt of $164,909 (2011 – $158,832) and long-term debt of $574,139 (2011 – $669,880).  

(viii) Includes current portion of obligations under finance leases of $nil (2011 – $75) and obligations under finance leases of $nil (2011 – $3,174). 

The following items shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, are measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis using level 1 or level 2 inputs. The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities at December 

31, 2012, using level 3 inputs, was $nil (2011  $nil).  

December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Total 

Asset (liability):    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,459,822 − 1,459,822 

Foreign exchange derivatives − (98) (98) 

Interest rate derivatives − (879) (879) 

Deposits 31,088 − 31,088 

 1,490,910 (977) 1,489,933 

 

December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Total 

Asset (liability):    

Cash and cash equivalents 1,291,946 − 1,291,946 

Foreign exchange derivatives − 4,662 4,662 

Fuel derivatives  − 7,611 7,611 

Interest rate derivatives − (532) (532) 

Deposits 28,386 − 28,386 

 1,320,332 11,741 1,332,073 

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, there were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 classified 
assets and liabilities. 
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16.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(a) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents: Consist of bank balances and short-term investments, primarily highly liquid instruments, with 
terms up to 92 days. Classified in level 1, as measurement inputs are derived from observable, unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets. Interest income is recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings as finance income. Due to their short-term 
nature, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value. 

Foreign exchange derivatives: Foreign exchange derivatives consist of forward contracts. The fair value of the foreign 
exchange forward contracts is measured based on the difference between the contracted rate and the current forward price 
obtained from the counterparty. Classified in level 2, as the significant measurement inputs used in the valuation models are 
observable in active markets. At December 31, 2012, the weighted average contracted rate on the forward contracts was 1.0001 
(2011 – 0.9914) Canadian dollars to one US dollar, and the weighted average forward rate used in determining the fair value 
was 0.9995 (2011 – 1.0201) Canadian dollars to one US dollar.  

Fuel derivatives: Fuel derivatives consist of call option contracts. At December 31, 2012, the Corporation does not have any 
fuel derivative contracts outstanding. The fair value of fuel derivatives are estimated by the use of a standard option valuation 
technique using inputs, including quoted forward prices for commodities, quoted volatility curves, foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates, which can be observed in the marketplace. These instruments are classified in level 2, as the significant 
measurement inputs are observable in an active market. At December 31, 2011 the closing forward curve for crude oil averaged 
approximately US $99 per barrel with the average forward foreign exchange rate used in determining the fair value being 0.9755 
Canadian dollars to one US dollar.  

Interest rate derivatives: Interest rate derivatives consist of swap contracts that exchange a floating rate of interest with a 
fixed rate of interest. The fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined by measuring the difference between the fixed 
contracted rate and the forward curve for the applicable floating interest rates obtained from the counterparty. Classified in level 
2, as the significant measurement inputs used in the valuation models, such as forward interest rate curves, are observable in 
active markets. At December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s swap contracts have a weighted average fixed interest rate of 2.19% 
(2011 – 2.19%). The closing weighted average forward interest rate curve of the three month Canadian Dealer Offered Rate 
over the term of the debt is 2.01% (2011 – 2.06%).  

Deposits: Relate to purchased aircraft and airport operations and earn a floating market rate of interest. Classified in level 1 as 
the measurement inputs are unadjusted, observable inputs in an active market.  

Long-term debt: The fair value of the Corporation’s fixed-rate long-term debt is determined by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows under the current financing arrangements at discount rates presently available to the Corporation for 
loans with similar terms and remaining maturities. At December 31, 2012, the rates used in determining the fair value ranged 
from 1.52% to 1.72% (2011 – 1.28% to 1.61%). The fair value of the Corporation’s floating rate debt approximates its carrying 
value. 

(b) Risk management related to financial instruments 

The Corporation is exposed to market, credit and liquidity risks associated with its financial assets and liabilities. From time to 
time, the Corporation will use various financial derivatives to reduce exposures from changes in foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and jet fuel prices. The Corporation does not hold or use any derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.   

The Corporation’s Board of Directors has responsibility for the establishment and approval of the Corporation’s overall risk 
management policies, including those related to financial instruments. Management performs continuous assessments so that all 
significant risks related to financial instruments are reviewed and addressed in light of changes to market conditions and the 
Corporation’s operating activities. 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. The Corporation’s significant market risks relate to fuel price risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk.  

(i) Fuel price risk 

The airline industry is inherently dependent upon jet fuel to operate and, therefore, the Corporation is exposed to the risk of 
volatile fuel prices. Fuel prices are impacted by a host of factors outside the Corporation’s control, such as significant weather 
events, geopolitical tensions, refinery capacity, and global demand and supply. For the year ended December 31, 2012, aircraft 
fuel expense represented approximately 33% (2011 – 33%) of the Corporation’s total operating expenses.  
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16. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(b) Risk management related to financial instruments (continued) 

 Market Risk (continued) 

(i) Fuel price risk (continued) 

Under the Corporation’s fuel price risk management policy, the Corporation is permitted to hedge a portion of its future 
anticipated jet fuel purchases for up to 36 months. During 2012, the Corporation ceased its fuel hedging program. For the year 
ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation did not enter into any additional fuel hedging contracts. Previously, upon proper 
qualification, the Corporation accounted for its fuel derivatives as cash flow hedges. 

The following table presents the financial impact and statement presentation of the Corporation’s fuel derivatives on the 
consolidated statement of financial position:  

 Statement presentation 
December 31 

2012 
December 31 

2011 

Receivable from counterparties  Accounts receivable  27 
Fair value  Prepaid expenses, deposits and other  7,611 

The following table presents the financial impact and statement presentation of the Corporation’s fuel derivatives on the 
consolidated statement of earnings:  

 Statement presentation 2012 2011 

Realized gain  Aircraft fuel  2,656 

Non-operating loss  Loss on fuel derivatives (6,512) (6,052) 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Corporation cash settled fuel derivatives in its favour of $168 (2011 – $2,732).  

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 

The Corporation is exposed to foreign exchange risks arising from fluctuations in exchange rates on its US-dollar-denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities and its US dollar operating expenditures, mainly aircraft fuel, aircraft leasing expense, and certain 
maintenance and airport operations costs.  

US dollar monetary assets and liabilities 

The gain or loss on foreign exchange included in the Corporation’s consolidated statement of earnings is mainly attributable to 
the effect of the changes in the value of the Corporation’s US-dollar-denominated monetary assets and liabilities. As at 
December 31, 2012, US-dollar-denominated net monetary liabilities totaled approximately US $11,514 (2011 – US $21,528).  

The Corporation estimates that a one-cent change in the value of the US dollar versus the Canadian dollar as at December 31, 
2012, would have increased or decreased net earnings, net of tax, for the year ended December 31, 2012, by $82 (2011 – 
$154), as a result of the Corporation’s US-dollar-denominated net monetary liability balance.  

US dollar aircraft leasing costs 

As at December 31, 2012 the Corporation has entered into foreign exchange forward contracts for an average of US $  
(2011 – US $ ) per month for the period of January to December 2013 for a total of US $  (2011 – US $ ) 
at a weighted average contract price of 1.0001 Canadian dollars to one US dollar to offset a portion of its US-dollar-denominated 
aircraft lease payments. As at December 31, 2012, no portion of the forward contracts was considered ineffective. 

Upon proper qualification, the Corporation accounts for its foreign exchange derivatives as cash flow hedges.  
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16. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(b) Risk management related to financial instruments (continued) 

Market Risk (continued) 

(ii)  Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 
The following table presents the financial impact and statement presentation of the Corporation’s foreign exchange derivatives 
on the consolidated statement of financial position:  

 Statement presentation December 31 
2012 

December 31 
2011 

Fair value  Prepaid expenses, deposits and other 800 4,662 

Fair value  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (898) − 

Unrealized gain (loss)  Hedge reserves – before tax impact (98) 4,662 

The following table presents the financial impact and statement presentation of the Corporation’s foreign exchange derivatives 
on the consolidated statement of earnings:  

 Statement presentation 2012 2011 

Realized gain (loss)  Aircraft leasing 1,245 (4,840) 

A one-cent change in the US-dollar exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2012, would impact OCI, net of taxes, by 
$1,157 (2011 – $1,192) as a result of the Corporation’s foreign exchange derivatives. 

(iii) Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market interest rates. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Corporation is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its short-term investments, included in cash and cash equivalents. A 
change of 50 basis points in the market interest rate would have had an approximate impact on net earnings of $4,956 (2011 – 
$ ) as a result of the Corporation’s short-term investment activities.  

Deposits 

The Corporation is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its deposits that relate to purchased aircraft and airport operat ions, 
which, as at December 31, 2012, totaled $  (2011 – $ ). A reasonable change in market interest rates as at 
December 31, 2012, would not have significantly impacted the Corporation’s net earnings due to the small size of these 
deposits.  

Long-term debt 

The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risks arising from fluctuations in market interest rates on its variable rate debt. The 
fixed-rate nature of the majority of the Corporation’s long-term debt mitigates the impact of interest rate fluctuations over the 
term of the outstanding debt. The Corporation accounts for its long-term fixed-rate debt at amortized cost, and therefore, a 
change in interest rates as at December 31, 2012, would not impact net earnings.  

At December 31, 2012, the Corporation had two interest rate swap contracts outstanding with a 12 year term to fix the interest 
rate two variable interest rate term loans at 2.89% and 2.99%, respectively, inclusive of a 75 basis point spread. The term loans 
were used to finance the purchase of two aircraft in 2012.  

Upon proper qualification, the Corporation accounts for its interest rate swap derivatives as cash flow hedges.  

The following table presents the financial impact and statement presentation of the Corporation’s interest rate derivatives on the 
condensed consolidated statement of financial position:  

 
Statement presentation 

December 31 
2012 

December 31 
2011 

Fair value  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 611 112 

Fair value  Other long-term liabilities 268 420 

Unrealized loss  Hedge reserves (before tax impact) (879) (532) 
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16. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(b) Risk management related to financial instruments (continued) 

Market Risk (continued) 

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

The following table presents the financial impact and statement presentation of the Corporation’s interest rate derivatives on the 
condensed consolidated statement of earnings:  

 Statement presentation 2012 2011 

Realized loss  Finance costs (418)  

A reasonable change in market interest rates at December 31, 2012 would not significantly impact the earnings or equity of the 
Corporation due to the insignificant fair value balance of the interest rate derivatives. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation. As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s credit exposure consists primarily of the carrying amounts of cash 
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, deposits and the fair value of derivative financial assets.  

The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the balances in the aforementioned accounts: 

 December 31, 
2012 

December 31, 
2011 

Cash and cash equivalents (i) 1,408,199 1,243,605 

Restricted cash(i) 
51,623 48,341 

Accounts receivable (ii)  37,576 34,122 

Deposits (iii) 31,088 28,386 

Derivative financial assets (iv) 
800 12,273 

(i) Consist of bank balances and short-term investments with terms of up to 92 days. Credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and restricted 
cash is minimized substantially by ensuring that these financial assets are invested primarily in debt instruments with highly rated financial institutions, 
some with provincial-government-backed guarantees. The Corporation manages its exposure by assessing the financial strength of its counterparties 
and by limiting the total exposure to any one individual counterparty.  

(ii)  All significant counterparties, both current and new, are reviewed and approved for credit on a regular basis under the Corporation’s credit management 
policies. The Corporation does not hold any collateral as security, however, in some cases the Corporation requires guaranteed letters of credit with 
certain of its counterparties. Trade receivables are generally settled within 30 to 60 days. Industry receivables are generally settled in less than 30 days. 

(iii) The Corporation is not exposed to counterparty credit risk on its deposits that relate to purchased aircraft, as the funds are held in a security trust 
separate from the assets of the financial institution. While the Corporation is exposed to counterparty credit risk on its deposit relating to airport 
operations, it considers this risk to be remote because of the nature and size of the counterparty. 

(iv) Derivative financial assets consist of foreign exchange forward contracts. The Corporation reviews the size and credit rating of both current and any 
new counterparties in addition to limiting the total exposure to any one counterparty. 

There were no new bad debts recorded for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011.  
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16. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(b) Risk management related to financial instruments (continued) 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
The Corporation maintains a strong liquidity position and sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due. 

The table below presents a maturity analysis of the Corporation’s undiscounted contractual cash flows for its non-derivative and 
derivative financial liabilities as at December 31, 2012. The analysis is based on foreign exchange and interest rates in effect at 
the consolidated statement of financial position date, and includes both principal and interest cash flows for long-term debt. 

 Total Within 1 year 1–3 years 3–5 years Over 5 years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities(i) 417,377 417,377    

Derivative financial liabilities(ii) 1,777 1,509 758 169 (659) 

Long-term debt  853,163 203,381 350,222 192,563 106,997 

 1,272,317 622,267 350,980 192,732 106,338 

(i) Excludes deferred WestJet Rewards liability of $41,117, foreign exchange derivative liabilities of $898 and interest rate derivative liabilities of $611.  
(ii) Derivative financial liabilities consist of foreign exchange forward contracts of $898 and net interest rate derivative contracts of $879. The Corporation 

reports long-term interest rate derivatives at their net position. At December 31, 2012, net long-term interest rate derivative liabilities were $268, with 
$927 in a liability position and $659 in an asset position. 

A portion of the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents balance relates to cash collected with respect to advance ticket sales, 
for which the balance at December 31, 2012 was $480,947 (2011 – $ ). Typically, the Corporation has cash and cash 
equivalents on hand to have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities, when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. As at 
December 31, 2012 the Corporation had cash and cash equivalents on hand of 2.93 times (2011 – 2.88) the advance ticket sales 
balance. 

The Corporation aims to maintain a current ratio, defined as current assets over current liabilities, of at least 1.00. As at  
December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s current ratio was  (2011 – ). As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation has not 
been required to post collateral with respect to any of its outstanding derivative contracts.  

17. Commitments  

(a) Purchased aircraft and spare engines 

As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation is committed to purchase 30 737-700 and five 737-800 aircraft for delivery between 
2013 and 2018, as well as 20 Q400 NextGen aircraft for delivery between 2013 and 2016. The Corporation is also committed to 
purchase four spare engines for delivery between 2013 and 2015. 

The remaining estimated amounts to be paid in deposits and purchase prices for the 55 aircraft and four spare engines are 
presented in the table below. Where applicable, US dollar commitments are translated at the period end foreign exchange rate. 

Within 1 year 354,254 

1 – 3 years 769,472 

3 – 5 years 622,825 

Over 5 years 129,135 

 1,875,686 

(b) Operating leases and commitments  

The Corporation has entered into operating leases and commitments for aircraft, land, buildings, equipment, computer 
hardware, software licenses and satellite programming. At December 31, 2012 the future payments under operating leases and 
commitments are presented in the table below. Where applicable, US dollar commitments are translated at the period end 
foreign exchange rate. 

Within 1 year 228,058 
1 – 3 years 358,509 
3 – 5 years 206,690 
Over 5 years 163,320 

 956,577 
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17. Commitments (continued) 

(c) Letters of guarantee 

As at December 31, 2012, the Corporation has a revolving letter of credit facility with a Canadian charter bank totalling $30,000 
(2011 – $30,000). The facility requires funds to be assigned and held in cash security for the full value of letters of guarantee 
issued by the Corporation.  At December 31, 2012, $7,562 (2011 – $6,610) letters of guarantee were issued under the facility by 
assigning restricted cash of $7,562 (2011 – $6,610). 

18. Related parties 

(a)  Subsidiaries and partnership  

The consolidated financial statements of WestJet Airlines Ltd., the parent company, include the accounts of the Corporation and 
its following four directly wholly-owned subsidiaries incorporated in Canada, as well as an indirectly wholly-owned Alberta 
partnership:  

WestJet Investment Corp.  
WestJet Operations Corp.  
WestJet Vacations Inc. 
WestJet Encore Ltd.  
WestJet, An Alberta Partnership 

WestJet, An Alberta Partnership is the primary operating entity of the Corporation. 

The Corporation utilizes six special purpose entities (SPEs) to facilitate the financing of aircraft. The Corporation has no equity 
ownership in the SPEs, however, the substance of the relationship between the Corporation and the SPEs indicates that they are 
controlled by the Corporation. Accordingly, the accounts of the SPEs have been consolidated in the Corporation’s  financial 
statements and all intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  

(b)  Key management personnel 

The Corporation has defined key management personnel as Senior Executive Officers, as well as the Board of Directors, as they 
have the collective authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation. The 
following table outlines the total compensation expense for key management personnel for the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011.  

 2012 2011 

Short-term fees and other short-term benefits 3,678 4,401 
Termination and post-employment benefits 

 1,116 
Share-based payment expense (i) 4,648 3,293 

 8,326 8,810 

(i) Includes amounts expensed pursuant to the stock option plan, executive share unit plan, deferred share unit plan and employee share purchase plan.  
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19. Additional financial information 

(a) Assets 

 Note 

December 31 
2012 

December 31 
2011 

Accounts receivable:    

Trade and industry (i)  37,633 34,858 

Other  2,311 1,632 

Allowance (ii)  (2,368) (2,368) 

  37,576 34,122 

Prepaid expenses, deposits and other:    

Prepaid expenses (iii)  35,608 27,288 

Short-term deposits (iv)  32,756 27,322 

Maintenance reserves – current portion 9 32,586 – 

Derivatives  16 800 12,273 

Other  52 53 

  101,802 66,936 

Inventory:    

Fuel  23,101 21,479 

Aircraft expendables   8,982 7,525 

De-icing fluid  427 240 

Other  3,085 2,451 

  35,595 31,695 

Other Assets:    

Aircraft deposits (v)  44,540 45,515 

Maintenance reserves – long term 9 21,277 49,655 

Other (vi) 
 9,596 8,789 

  75,413 103,959 

(i) Trade receivables include receivables relating to airport operations, fuel rebates, marketing programs and ancillary revenue products and services. 
Industry receivables include receivables relating to air travel, vacation packages, travel agents, interline agreements with other airlines and 
partnerships. All significant counterparties are reviewed and approved for credit on a regular basis. Trade receivables are generally settled in 30 to 60 
days. Industry receivables are generally settled in less than 30 days.     

(ii) The Corporation recorded a bad debt provision in 2009 in relation to its cargo operations. There were no new provisions recorded in 2012 or 2011. 

(iii) Includes prepaid expenses for insurance, vacation package vendors and other operating costs 

(iv) Includes deposits relating to aircraft fuel, airport operations, deposits on leased aircraft and other operating costs.  

(v) Includes long-term deposits with lessors for leased aircraft. 

(vi) Includes long-term deposits for airport operations. 
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19. Additional financial information (continued) 

(b) Liabilities 

 Note 

December 31 
2012 

December 31 
2011 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:    

Trade and industry  281,574 244,822 

Taxes payable  101,379 23,433 

WestJet Rewards  41,117 22,020 

Derivatives 16 1,509 112 

Other  34,424 16,722 

  460,003 307,109 

Other current liabilities:    

Advanced ticket sales      

Non-refundable guest credits      

    

Other liabilities:    

Deferred contract incentives (i)  9,646 10,029 

Derivatives 16 268 420 

  9,914 10,449 

(i) Deferred contract incentives relate to discounts received on aircraft related items as well as the net effect of rent free periods and cost escalations on 
land leases. Incentives, rent free periods and costs escalations are amortized over the terms of the related contracts.  

20.  Subsequent events  

(a) Aircraft Financing 

Subsequent to year end, on February 5, 2013, the Corporation signed an $820 million commitment letter with Export 
Development Canada (EDC) pursuant to which EDC will make available to WestJet Encore financing support for the purchase of 
the Bombardier Q400s. The Corporation will be charged a non-refundable commitment fee of 0.2% per annum on the remaining 
undisbursed portion of the commitment, commencing on the date of the letter. Availability of any undrawn amount will expire at 
the end of 2018. The available amount for each aircraft would be up to 80% of the delivery price with a term to maturity of 12 
years, payable in quarterly installments. 
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